CHARACTERIZATION OF ANTI-TCDB DARPIN DISULFIDE MUTANTS

An Undergraduate Research Scholars Thesis

by

ALYSSA LOW

Submitted to the LAUNCH: Undergraduate Research office at Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of requirements for the designation as an

UNDERGRADUATE RESEARCH SCHOLAR

Approved by Faculty Research Advisor:

Zhilei Chen, PhD

May 2021

Majors:

Biochemistry Genetics

Copyright © 2021. Alyssa Low.

RESEARCH COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION

Research activities involving the use of human subjects, vertebrate animals, and/or biohazards must be reviewed and approved by the appropriate Texas A&M University regulatory research committee (i.e., IRB, IACUC, IBC) before the activity can commence. This requirement applies to activities conducted at Texas A&M and to activities conducted at non-Texas A&M facilities or institutions. In both cases, students are responsible for working with the relevant Texas A&M research compliance program to ensure and document that all Texas A&M compliance obligations are met before the study begins.

I, Alyssa Low, certify that all research compliance requirements related to this Undergraduate Research Scholars thesis have been addressed with my Research Faculty Advisor prior to the collection of any data used in this final thesis submission.

This project required approval from the Texas A&M University Research Compliance & Biosafety office.

TAMU IRB #: 2019-154 Approval Date: 12/11/2019 Expiration Date: 1/30/2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AE	BSTRAG	CT1	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS			
NOMENCLATURE			
1.	. INTRODUCTION		
2.	METHODS		
	2.1	Disulfide Mutant Expression and Purification	
	2.2	Disulfide Mutant Concentration Determination	
	2.3	Disulfide Bond Formation Confirmation	
	2.4	Protease Digestion Trials	
	2.5	Cell Viability Assay	
3. RESULTS		LTS	
	3.1	Disulfide Bond Confirmation	
	3.2	Disulfide Mutants are Stable in the Presence of Trypsin	
	3.3	Disulfide Mutants are Stable in the Presence of Chymotrypsin	
	3.4	DARPin Disulfide Mutant 139ss148 and T10-2 Display Comparable Neutralization	
		Activity	
4.	CONC	LUSION	
	4.1	Disulfide Bond Effects	
	4.2	Future Directions	
RE	FEREN	ICES	

ABSTRACT

Characterization of Anti-TcdB DARPin Disulfide Mutants

Alyssa Low Department of Biochemistry & Biophysics Texas A&M University

Research Faculty Advisor: Zhilei Chen, PhD Department of Microbial Pathogenesis & Immunology Texas A&M University

Clostridioides difficile (C. difficile), the microbe responsible for *Clostridioides difficile* infection (CDI), is a common nosocomial infection that exerts its pathogenicity primarily by two toxins, TcdA and TcdB. Designed ankyrin repeat proteins (DARPins) are an emerging approach of protein therapeutics to combat disease beyond the limitations of antibiotics and monoclonal antibodies. Disulfide bonds are commonly used in other facets of protein engineering to enhance stability, but their use has not been well documented with DARPins. Previously, the Chen lab engineered DARPins that have been demonstrated to be effective at neutralizing TcdB. However, these DARPins are not protease-stable, which is a barrier for effective delivery in downstream therapeutic contexts. To address this, disulfide bonds were introduced in order to increase the stability of the DARPins and thus increase resistance to protease digestion. The subsequent structure, stability, and neutralization activity are assessed to ascertain the effects of bolstering tertiary structure. The formation of disulfide bonds is confirmed by the comparison of mutants in oxidizing and reducing conditions. Elapsed trials with trypsin and chymotrypsin incubation demonstrate protease stability. Overall, the addition of disulfide bonds is demonstrated to

improve stability at minimal cost to neutralization activity. The successful characterization of these disulfide mutants may grant continuing insight into future protein engineering applications and aid the development of a therapeutic anti-TcdB DARPin.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Contributors

I would like to thank my faculty advisor, Dr. Zhilei Chen, and postdoctoral researcher, Dr. Vikas Chonira, for their invaluable mentorship and support throughout the course of this research project. My gratitude and thanks extend to all the members of the Chen Lab. Thank you to my friends and colleagues and the department faculty and staff for making my time at Texas A&M University a great experience.

The data analyzed in the cell viability assays were provided by Dr. Yu Zeng. Molecular graphics were produced with UCSF Chimera, developed by the Resource for Biocomputing, Visualization, and Informatics at the University of California, San Francisco, with support from NIH P41-GM103311. All other work conducted for the thesis was completed by the student independently.

Funding Sources

No funding was received in support of this project.

NOMENCLATURE

BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BME	2-Mercaptoethanol
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
C. difficile	Clostridioides difficile
CDI	Clostridioides difficile infection
DARPin	Designed ankyrin repeat protein
E. coli	Escherichia coli
IPTG	Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
LB	Luria-Bertani
OD600	Optical density measured at 600 nm
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline buffer
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

1. INTRODUCTION

Designed ankyrin repeat proteins (DARPins) are an emerging approach of protein therapeutics to combat disease beyond the limitations of antibiotics and monoclonal antibodies (mAbs). The small molecular weight of this novel class of proteins gives it an advantageous pharmacokinetic profile, in addition to its high variability and high specificity-binding capacity, heat stability, and easy expression¹. Furthermore, DARPins possess key qualities associated with low immunogenicity, having high stability, no aggregation tendency, and lacking an Fc domain². Subsequently, the therapeutic potential of DARPins is great and is expanded by the multispecificity and functional modifications that can be engineered.

Major potential for DARPins lies in the treatment of *Clostridioides difficile* (*C. difficile*), an obligate anaerobe, Gram-positive, spore-forming bacterium that is the leading cause of nosocomial infectious diarrhea worldwide³. Found in the gastrointestinal tract, *C. difficile* exerts its virulence by toxin A (TcdA) and toxin B (TcdB) and causes *C. difficile* infections (CDI)⁴. Standard treatment of CDI currently comprises the use of several antibiotics including vancomycin, metronidazole, and fidaxomicin³. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) have *C. difficile* marked as an urgent threat in regard to antibiotic resistance, underscoring the need for innovative therapeutics to lower the 12,800 deaths that occur from CDIs each year⁵.

There are no DARPins currently in clinical use, although several candidates have progressed to clinical trials^{6,7}. Previously, the Chen lab engineered DARPin constructs that were shown to be effective at neutralizing TcdB⁸. Additional DARPin constructs engineered were not protease-stable, which is a barrier for combating *C. difficile* activity in the small intestine⁴. Given the residence of *C. difficile* in the bowels, oral administration of therapeutics will allow for

increased bioavailability relative to systemic administration for this neutralizing mechanism of action. Orally administered DARPins must therefore be able to withstand the digestive processes all proteins are subjected to. To address this, disulfide bonds were introduced in order to increase the rigidity and stability of the DARPins and thus engineer them to be resistant to protease digestion. Three disulfide mutants were engineered – 1ss24, 41ss73, and 139ss148 – from parent DARPin T10-2 (Figure 1.1). Naming accordingly reflects the location of mutated cysteine residues, and thus putative disulfide formation, at the 1st and 24th residue, 41st and 73rd residue, and 139th and 148th residue accordingly.



Figure 1.1: Locations of disulfide bonds are highlighted in red on a model of T10-2 from a Chimera visualization⁹

Enhanced protein stability is a desirable goal for many biomedical applications, expanding the range over which a protein can retain its conformation and function. Disulfide bonds contribute to this stability by providing conformational constraints, thereby providing support to withstand a variety of environmental stressors¹⁰ and conferring protease resistance¹¹. Although disulfides have been reported to add 2.5-5.1 kcal/mol to the thermodynamic stability of a protein¹², disulfides that destabilize structure have also been reported. The determinants for if inserted disulfide bonds will be stabilizing or destabilizing are under study¹³, and various bioinformatic models have been developed to better elucidate these elements and predict protein stability¹⁴.

The formation of disulfide bonds is primarily influenced by the physical distance between cysteine residues, surrounding pH, and redox environment¹⁵. During protein synthesis, the cellular environment maintains reduced cysteine thiols; upon exiting the cell, where disulfide proteins most often enact their functions, exposure to oxygen provides an oxidizing environment in which these bridges can subsequently form¹³. Similarly, protein release upon cell lysis exposes DARPins to an oxidizing environment. DARPins are fast-folding proteins that assemble based on short-range interactions, favoring successful disulfide formation compared to slower folding proteins^{16,17}.

Disulfide bonds added in regions of flexibility that create large loops have been reported to increase stability, largely due to the ability of the backbone to adjust to optimal geometry for the disulfide bond¹⁸. In this study, residues linking ankyrin repeats within 2.3 Å were identified and mutated into cysteine residues. While the peptide backbone is planar and limited in rotation, the C_{α}-C and N–C_{α} bonds are able to rotate¹⁹, meaning the primary consideration for disulfides bridges here was ensuring the physical proximity of cysteine β-carbons and avoiding introducing steric strain in the native conformation.

Despite its growing utility in other facets of protein engineering¹³, the use of disulfide bonds has not been well documented with DARPins. The enhancement in stability that disulfide bridges can provide offers a promising avenue to improve the activity of neutralizing DARPins. The characterization of these DARPin mutants is subsequently necessary to determine structure,

stability, binding affinity, and neutralization activity. An increase in protease-stability at marginal cost to neutralization activity will be informative to future studies on protein engineering in developing a clinically effective DARPin against TcdB.

2. METHODS

2.1 Disulfide Mutant Expression and Purification

Shuffle *E. coli* containing plasmid DNA encoding the disulfide mutants were inoculated in 5 mL of LB broth with 50 µg/mL Kanamycin and cultured at 37°C. After 16 hours, each culture was transferred into 100 mL of LB broth with 50 µg/mL Kanamycin and cultured until OD600 values between 0.4 and 0.8 were measured with a spectrophotometer. Protein expression was induced with 0.4 mM IPTG and kept at 18°C for 18 hours. Cells were collected by centrifugation and lysed via sonification. Samples were centrifuged and the supernatant collected for purification of soluble proteins. Purification was performed by Ni-NTA affinity column chromatography. Two rounds of washes were performed twice: one set with PBS and the other with PBS containing 30 mM imidazole. Purified protein was eluted with PBS containing 150 mM imidazole. The DARPins were buffer exchanged into PBS and concentrated by 10k Amicon ultra centrifugal filters. SDS-PAGE was performed to confirm expression and purification. Samples were flash-frozen with liquid nitrogen and kept at -80 °C.

2.2 Disulfide Mutant Concentration Determination

To ascertain protein concentrations from measured nanodrop concentrations, a BCA protein assay was used to quantify total protein and determine a corresponding extinction coefficient. A standard curve from 0 to 2000 μ g/mL was created using BSA.

2.3 Disulfide Bond Formation Confirmation

Disulfide bond confirmation was performed by analysis of varied SDS-PAGE run conditions. Two samples of each DARPin were electrophoresed: one sample with loading buffer containing BME, and one without. Samples were heated at 95°C for five minutes, then loaded onto a 12% acrylamide SDS-PAGE at 200V for 45 minutes. Staining was performed with Coomassie blue.

2.4 **Protease Digestion Trials**

Disulfide DARPin stability was assessed in the presence of trypsin and chymotrypsin. DARPins were diluted to 0.5 mg/mL in PBS. 100 μ L of trypsin slurry was combined with each DARPin and incubated for 3 hours. Similarly, 25 μ L of chymotrypsin slurry was combined with each DARPin and incubated for 3 hours. At each hour (0, 1, 2, 3), samples were collected and kept at -20°C. A native PAGE was run to assess protein conformation and stability. The parent DARPin T10-2 was used as a control.

2.5 Cell Viability Assay

The ability of DARPins to maintain cell viability in the presence of TcdB was measured with Vero E6 cells. Cells were seeded at a density of 1.5×10^3 cells/well overnight. DARPins were incubated with either PBS, 1 mg/mL trypsin, or 0.5 mg/mL chymotrypsin for 1 hour at 37°C. For each DARPin, a five-fold serial dilution series was constructed from 0.0016 nM to 125 nM. These protein dilutions were added to the cells following incubation, as was 1.1 pg/mL TcdB. Cells were thereafter incubated at 37°C for 72 hours. Cell viability was determined from ATP levels by measuring luminescence with CellTiter-Glo. All aforementioned procedures were

repeated with T10-2 and 139ss148 altering the initial incubation to be with PBS, 0.5 mg/mL chymotrypsin, or 1 mg/mL chymotrypsin.

3. **RESULTS**

3.1 Disulfide Bond Confirmation

As the proteins were denatured by the presence of SDS and application of heat, differences in band migration can be attributed to the presence of disulfide bonds. The presence of a disulfide bond alters the migration of the protein such that DARPins that exhibit the same run pattern in reducing conditions (with BME) and oxidizing conditions (without BME) lack a disulfide bond; conversely, DARPins with dissimilar run patterns in these conditions contain a disulfide bond. As expected, T10-2, which lacks cysteines, displayed the same migration pattern in reducing and oxidizing conditions (Figure 3.1). Similarly, 41ss73 displayed the same run pattern in both conditions and was determined to not have formed a disulfide bond. The 1ss24 and 139ss148 mutants displayed a difference in band migration between redox conditions and were confirmed as having successfully formed disulfide bonds. Given the naturally oxidizing conditions of the exposed in vitro setting and close proximity, the absence of a disulfide bridge in 41ss73 may be the result of conformational strain imposed on the backbone to accommodate such a crosslink.



Figure 3.1: SDS-PAGE of T10-2 and disulfide mutants in reducing and oxidizing conditions. + indicates the addition of BME, - indicates the absence of BME.

3.2 Disulfide Mutants are Stable in the Presence of Trypsin

Disulfide DARPin mutants were incubated with trypsin for three hours to assess if original conformation was retained in the presence of proteases found in the intestinal tract. When electrophoresed on a native PAGE, all DARPins exhibited a consistent appearance over three hours (Figure 3.2, 3.3). This confirms the trypsin stable nature of the disulfide mutants. The introduction of the disulfide bonds did not interfere with the trypsin resistant nature of T10-2 from which the mutants were created.



Figure 3.2: Native PAGE of T10-2 and 1ss24 after incubation with trypsin over 3 hours.



Figure 3.3: Native PAGE of 41ss73 and 139ss148 after incubation with trypsin over 3 hours.

3.3 Disulfide Mutants are Stable in the Presence of Chymotrypsin

With trypsin stability established, disulfide DARPin mutants were then incubated with chymotrypsin for three hours to assess if they likewise retained their original conformation despite protease activity. From native PAGE analysis, the initial DARPin conformation is revealed to be best maintained over the course of 3 hours in 1ss24 and 139ss148 (Figure 3.4, 3.5). In contrast, parent T10-2 is digested by chymotrypsin; the progressively dimmed protein band intensity over time in comparison and smear seen in hours 1-3 indicates the loss of conformation. Sustained band intensity by disulfide mutants in the presence of trypsin and chymotrypsin indicate protease resistance.



Figure 3.4: Native PAGE of T10-2 and 1ss24 after incubation with chymotrypsin over 3 hours.



Figure 3.5: Native PAGE of 41ss73 and 139ss138 after incubation with chymotrypsin over 3 hours.

3.4 DARPin Disulfide Mutant 139ss148 and T10-2 Display Comparable Neutralization Activity

The effect of DARPin concentration when comparing cell viability in the presence and absence of proteases models physiological conditions that DARPins would be administered in for downstream therapeutic applications. Consistent with lack of disulfide bond formation and poorer performance in the digestion trials, 41ss73 demonstrated little neutralization activity in the cell viability assay in the presence of chymotrypsin (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6: Cell rescuing activity of 41ss73 against TcdB in the presence of trypsin and chymotrypsin

1ss24 displayed robust neutralization activity (Figure 3.7), and 139ss148 had the best activity of the disulfide mutants in the presence of chymotrypsin (Figure 3.8). The enhanced performance seen in these two mutants relative to 41ss73 reflects the protease resistance observed in the protease digestion trials.



Figure 3.7: Cell rescuing activity of 1ss24 against TcdB in the presence of trypsin and chymotrypsin



Figure 3.8: Cell rescuing activity of 139ss148 against TcdB in the presence of trypsin and chymotrypsin

Given the robust performance of 139ss148, its activity was assessed in varied chymotrypsin concentrations against T10-2 from which it was derived. Between 0.5 mg/mL and 1.0 mg/mL of chymotrypsin, 139ss148 was similarly effective in rescuing cells from the cytotoxic effects of TcdB (Figure 3.9). T10-2 also exhibited consistent rescuing activity (Figure 3.10). Overall, the performance of the two DARPins was comparable, with both 139ss148 and T10-2 exhibiting similar neutralization profiles.



Figure 3.9: Cell rescuing activity of 139ss148 against TcdB in the presence of varied chymotrypsin concentrations



Figure 3.10: Cell rescuing activity of T10-2 against TcdB in the presence of varied chymotrypsin concentrations

4. CONCLUSION

4.1 Disulfide Bond Effects

Select disulfide mutant DARPins did appear to have enhanced stability, although not subsequently demonstrating improved neutralization activity. The introduction of disulfide bonds had varied augments on protease stability. 1ss24 and 139ss148 chymotrypsin resistance was superior to that of 41ss73, suggesting that the presence of a disulfide bond at the N or C terminus is more critical to maintaining protein conformation than a bond in the central ankyrin domains. As protein unfolding is required before cleavage can occur, the maintenance of secondary and tertiary structures subverts this process. By introducing these disulfide bridges at the terminals of the DARPin, access to cleavage sites is limited and allows for conformational stability despite protease activity.

4.2 Future Directions

DARPins are generally resistant to mutation and stable in the established repeated ankyrin structures. Here, the introduction of disulfides and stability was experimentally verified. 139ss148 was demonstrated to have similar performance to T10-2 from which it was created. Ultimately, a DARPin with improved performance to that of T10-2 is desirable, and various avenues exist to engineer such a protein. Among these, the combination of the disulfide bond at the 1st and 24th residues with the bond at 139th and 148th residues may exhibit further improved stability and neutralization activity. This introduces the challenge of ensuring optimal disulfide bond formation, as the presence of more than two cysteine residues expands the possible combinations of disulfide bond formation^{20–22}. However, proper formation is still enhanced in

small, fast-folding proteins, and promoted through the use of proteins such as protein disulfide isomerase²³. As demonstrated here, singular disulfide bonds were limited in their capacity to enhance TcdB neutralization. Although these alone were insufficient for improved activity, additional studies in tandem with other stabilizing modifications may prove useful to develop a better anti-TcdB DARPin that can be used to help combat *C. difficile*.

REFERENCES

- Caputi AP, Navarra P. Beyond antibodies: ankyrins and DARPins. From basic research to drug approval. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*. Published online 2020:1-9. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2020.05.004
- 2. Stumpp MT, Binz HK, Amstutz P. DARPins: A new generation of protein therapeutics. *Drug Discov Today*. 2008;13(15-16):695-701. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2008.04.013
- Zhu D, Sorg JA, Sun X. Clostridioides difficile biology: Sporulation, germination, and corresponding therapies for C. difficile infection. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*. 2018;8(FEB). doi:10.3389/fcimb.2018.00029
- 4. Lessa FC, Gould C V., Clifford McDonald L. Current status of clostridium difficile infection epidemiology. *Clin Infect Dis*. 2012;55(SUPPL.2):65-70. doi:10.1093/cid/cis319
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Biggest Threats and Data | Antibiotic/Antimicrobial Resistance | CDC. 2019. Published 2018. Accessed August 22, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/biggestthreats.html%0Ahttps://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/biggest_threats.html
- 6. Al-Khersan H, Hussain RM, Ciulla TA, Dugel PU. Innovative therapies for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. 2019;20(15):1879-1891. doi:10.1080/14656566.2019.1636031
- Molecular Partners AG. Molecular Partners presents updated results from its ongoing Phase 2 combination study of its lead oncology drug MP0250 at EHA - Bloomberg. Published 2018. Accessed August 23, 2020. https://www.bloomberg.com/pressreleases/2018-06-15/molecular-partners-presents-updated-results-from-its-ongoing-phase-2-combination-study-of-its-lead-oncology-drug-mp0250-at-eha
- 8. Simeon R, Jiang M, Chamoun-Emanuelli AM, et al. Selection and characterization of ultrahigh potency designed ankyrin repeat protein inhibitors of C. Difficile toxin B. *PLoS Biol.* 2019;17(6). doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.3000311
- 9. Pettersen EF, Goddard TD, Huang CC, et al. UCSF Chimera A visualization system for exploratory research and analysis. *J Comput Chem.* 2004;25(13):1605-1612. doi:10.1002/jcc.20084

- 10. Bulaj G. Formation of disulfide bonds in proteins and peptides. *Biotechnol Adv.* 2005;23(1):87-92. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2004.09.002
- 11. Cohen I, Coban M, Shahar A, et al. Disulfide engineering of human Kunitz-type serine protease inhibitors enhances proteolytic stability and target affinity toward mesotrypsin. *J Biol Chem.* 2019;294(13):5105-5120. doi:10.1074/jbc.RA118.007292
- 12. Tidor B, Karplus M. The contribution of cross-links to protein stability: A normal mode analysis of the configurational entropy of the native state. *Proteins Struct Funct Genet*. 1993;15(1):71-79. doi:10.1002/prot.340150109
- 13. Dombkowski AA, Sultana KZ, Craig DB. Protein disulfide engineering. *FEBS Lett*. 2014;588(2):206-212. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2013.11.024
- 14. Dani VS, Ramakrishnan C, Varadarajan R. MODIP revisited: re-evaluation and refinement of an automated procedure for modeling of disulfide bonds in proteins. *Protein Eng Des Sel*. 2003;16(3):187-193. doi:10.1093/proeng/gzg024
- 15. Rajpal G, Arvan P. Disulfide Bond Formation. In: *Handbook of Biologically Active Peptides*. Elsevier Inc.; 2013:1721-1729. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-385095-9.00236-0
- 16. Wetzel SK, Settanni G, Kenig M, Binz HK, Plückthun A. Folding and Unfolding Mechanism of Highly Stable Full-Consensus Ankyrin Repeat Proteins. *J Mol Biol.* 2008;376(1):241-257. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2007.11.046
- 17. Wedemeyer WJ, Welker E, Narayan M, Scheraga HA. Disulfide bonds and protein folding. *Biochemistry*. 2000;39(15):4207-4216. doi:10.1021/bi9929220
- 18. Baase WA, Liu L, Tronrud DE, Matthews BW. Lessons from the lysozyme of phage T4. *Protein Sci.* 2010;19(4):631-641. doi:10.1002/pro.344
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P. The Shape and Structure of Proteins. Published online 2002. Accessed April 20, 2021. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK26830/
- 20. Narayan M. Disulfide bonds: Protein folding and subcellular protein trafficking. *FEBS J*. 2012;279(13):2272-2282. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08636.x

- 21. Xu X, Rothwarf DM, Scheraga HA. Nonrandom distribution of the one-disulfide intermediates in the regeneration of ribonuclease A. *Biochemistry*. 1996;35(20):6406-6417. doi:10.1021/bi960090d
- 22. Volles MJ, Xu X, Scheraga HA. Distribution of disulfide bonds in the two-disulfide intermediates in the regeneration of bovine pancreatic ribonuclease A: Further insights into the folding process. *Biochemistry*. 1999;38(22):7284-7293. doi:10.1021/bi990570f
- 23. Kosuri P, Alegre-Cebollada J, Feng J, et al. Protein folding drives disulfide formation. *Cell*. 2012;151(4):794-806. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.09.036